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Complaint for violation of Title 18,

United States Code,

Sections 1029 (a) (2), 2

NAME OF MAGISTRATE JUDGE

HONORABLE VICTOR B. KENTON

UNITED STATES LOCATION

MAGISTRATE JUDGE

Los Angeles, CA

DATES OF OFFENSES
July 2006

PLACE OF OFFENSE
Los Angeles County

ADDRESS OF ACCUSED (IF KNOWN)

In or about July 2006,
District of California,
interstate and foreign commerce,
unauthorized access device, namely,
a one-year period,
1029 (a) (2)

COMPLAINANT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS CONSTITUTING THE OFFENSE OR VIOLATION:

in Los Angeles County,
defendant VISANIO VANN,
knowingly and with intent to defraud used an
Citibank credit card number ending in

*4675 to obtain things of value worth $1,000 or more in the aggregate during
in violation of Title 18,
(Fraudulent Use of Unauthorized Access Device).

within the Central
in transactions affecting

United ‘States Code, Section
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BASIS OF COMPLAINANT'S CHARGE AGAINST THE ACCUSED:
(See attached affidavit which is incorporated as part of this Complaint)

MATERIAL WITNESSES IN RELATION TO THIS CHARGE:

Being duly sworn, I declare that the
foregoing is true and correct to the
best of my knowledge.

SIGNATURE OF COMPLAINANT

ERNEST WILLIAMS

OFFICIAL TITLE
SPECIAL AGENT - U.S.

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence,

SIGNATURE OF MAGISTRATE JUDGE (1)

VICTOR B. KENTON

DATE

May 20, 2008

1) See Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure rules 3 and 54.

AUSA: Rozella A. Oliver REC: Detention
187 | .
Y

(Warrant)
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AFFIDAVIT
I, Emest Williams, being duly sworn, do hereby depose and say:

INTRODUCTION

1. I am a Postal Inspector with the United States Postal Inspection Service
(“USPIS”), Los Angeles Division, Los Angeles, California, and have been so employed
since April 2005. I am a member of the Los Angeles Identity Theft and Economic Crimes
Task Force (“ITEC”). 1 have completed a twelve-week basic training course in Potomac,
Maryland which included training in internet, mail fraud and financial investigations. 1am a
member of the International Association of Financial Crimes Investigators and participate in
periodic meetings and training. In part, these meetings discuss a number of topics,
including, but not limited to, identity fraud related investigations. As a Postal Inspector, my
duties are to investigate violations of postal law, including credit card fraud and mail theft.
In preparing this affidavit, I have consulted with several inspectors assigned to rdy team who
have more than fifteen years combined experience.

2. This affidavit is made in support of:

a. A criminal complaint and arrest warrant for VISANIO EUGENE VANN
(“VANN”) for violations of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1029(a)(2), Unauthorized
Use of an Access Device.
b. Search warrants for the following locations for evidence of violations of
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 (Mail Fraud), 1029 (Access Devxce Fraud) and
1028A (Aggravated Identity Theft) and Title 42, United States Code, Sectlon 408 (Soc1al
Security Fraud):
i The premlses located at 2359 ‘Chiquita Lane, Thousand Oaks, CA

91362 (the “SUBJECT PREMISES”) and
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ii. A white 2000 Mercedes Benz CLK 430, California Plate license
5SXSA78S, vehicle identification number (“VIN”) WDBLK70G5YT041925 (the “SUBJECT
VEHICLE”).

3. The facts set forth in this affidavit are based upon my personal observations,
review of documents provided by financial institutions and various retail establishments, my
training and experience, and information obtained from other law enforcement officers and
witnesses. This affidavit is intended to show that there is sufficient probable cause for the
requested arrest warrant and search warrants, and does not purport to set forth all of my

knowledge of or investigation into this matter.

PREMISES TO BE SEARCHED
4, The premises and vehicle to be searched are further described as fo]iows and
in Attachment A to this affidavit:
a. The premises to be searched is 2359 Chiquita Lane, Thousand Oaks,

California 91362 (the “SUBJECT PREMISES”); a single-family, multi-story townhouse.
The SUBJECT PREMISES is located on the north side of Chiquita Lane and is light yellow
in color with white and brown trim on the front of the residence. The front door of the
SUBJECT PREMISES faces east. The numbers “2359" are silver in color and are affixed to
the upper trim. The townhouse has a white attached two-car garage facing west, accessible
through an alley. -
b. 2000 Mercedes Benz, CLK 430 Model (the “SUBJECT

VEHICLE”), white in color with Calif;ornia Plate license 5XSA785 and Vehicle

Identification Number WDBLK70G5YTO041925.
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SUMMARY OF PROBABLE CAUSE

5. In August 2006, I began an investigation of fraudulent credit card activity
reported by vaﬁous banks. Two names, “Bagio Gancini” and “Craig Balzer” and two
commercial receiving agencies (CMRAs) have been linked to some of this reported
fraudulent activity. Through my investigation, I have learned that the names “Bagio
Gancini” and “Craig Balzer” are aliases for Visanio VANN. Through further investigation
of credit card fraud reported by various banks, I obtained information about a credit card in
the name of VANN’s father, Emmett Vann, which was being used by “Craig Balzer.”
Follow-up investigation tied the SUBJECT PREMISES to the Emmett Vann card. A trash
run was then conducted at the SUBJECT PREMISES and uncovered evidence that VANN,

using his known aliases, is residing at the SUBJECT PREMISES.

PROBABLE CAUSE
A, Jimenez Card Linked to “Bagio Gancini”
6. Reviewing information concerning fraudulent credit card activity provided to me

by Chase Bank Fraud Investigator Dawn Mercer in August 2006, 1 learned that, on or about June
15, 2006, Chase Visa credit card number ending in 4676, issued in thc; name of “R. 1. Jimenez”
(the “Jimenez card”) was used to pay $120.00 for a mail box at a CMRA, which receives
consolidated U.S. Mail from 9903 Santa Monica Blvd., Beverly Hills, CA 90212 and 9899 Santa
Monica Blvd., Beverly Hills, CA 90212 (hereinafter the “Santa Monica CMRA”).

7. In August 2006, I visited the Santa Monica CMRA and met with the manager,
Avi Levy, who stated that the Jimenez card was used to pay for box number 900, among other
boxes. Levy stated that a customer named “Bagio Gancini” called into the Santa Monica CMRA
to make the payment. Levy also stated Gancini regularly made payments for box 900 and box
887. Levy provided me with a copy of a credit card transaction receipt for box 900.

Additionally, he provided me with a copy of the application to open box 900 and an
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accompanying photocopy of a California driver’s license number B6840566, which included a
photograph. 1 saw that the name on the driver’s license was “Bagio Gancini.” Levy identified
the individual depicted on the California driver’s license as the individual he knew as “Bagio
Gancini.” Levy provided documentation showing that box 900 was opened in or about 2002.

8. In August 2006, I queried law enforcement databases and obtained a copy of
“Bagio Gancini’s” California driver’s license number B6840566, which included a
photograph. I compared the Department of Motor Vehicles (“DMV”) photograph of “Bagio
Gancini” to the photocopy of the driver’s license provided by Levy. The photographs on the
driver’s license provided by Levy and the driver’s license I retrieved appear to be the same

person.

B. Alegria Card Linked to “Bagio”

9. Following up on other information provided by Investigator Mercer, |
discovered that an individual named “Bagio” had used a Chase Visa credit card account
number ending in *1079, issued in the name of “Alfonso U. Alegria” (the “Alegria card”).
Specifically, on or about August 17, 2006, the Alegria card was used to make two purchases
totaling $461.15 at the Empty Vase, a florist shop, located at 9033 Santa Monica Blvd, West
Hollywood, CA 90069. I visited the Empty Vase in August 2006 and was provided with
two receipts dated August 17, 2006. One receipt included a type-written message to the
recipient. The message read, “Enjoy! From Alfonso.” The other receipt included a type-
written message to tﬁe recipient which read, “Call Me Love, Bagio.”

C. ANI (310) 497-2009 Linked to the Santa Monica CMRA

10. Suspecting that more credit card fraud might be associated with the Santa Monica
CMRA linked to the Jimenez card, I continued my review of information provided by various
fraud investigators. In reviewing documents provided by a fraud investigator with Bank of - -

America I learned that four credit card accounts with fraudulent activity were linked to each other
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through the Bank of America’s Automatic Number Identification (“ANI”) system. (An ANl is
the telephone number captured by banking or credit card companies when someone calls to obtain
information about a particular account or to activate an account.) The ANI captured on the nine
credit card accouﬁts was (310) 497-2009.

11. On or about January 18, 2007, I received subscriber information for telephone
number (310) 497-2009 from Sprint Nextel Corporation and learned that the subscriber was
“Module Technology, Inc.” with the Santa Monica CMRA as the listed address.

12. The total actual loss associated with Bank of America credit cards with
fraudulent transactions tied to ANI (310) 497-2009 was $71,869.49.

13. After reviewing the Bank of America information concerning ANI (310) 497-
2009, I reviewed information provided by Chase Fraud investigators to look for the use of the
same ANI or common aliases in connection with fraudulent activity on Chase credit card
accounts. That review revealed that ANI (310) 497-2009 was linked to numerous fraudulent
Chase credit card accounts, including the Alegria card (described above at paragraph 9). At least
one of these fraudulent credit card accounts had mail sent to the Santa Monica CMRA tied to
VANN. The total actual loss associated with Chase credit cards with fraudulent transactions tied
to ANI (310) 497-2009 is approximately $191,000.

D. Cabrales Card Linked to “Bagio Gancini”

14. Looking for more evidence of fraud associated with “Bagio Gancini” in records
provided to me by Citibank fraud investigators, I discovered that “Bagio Gancini” used Citibank
credit card account number ‘end_ing in *4675, in the name of Robert Cabrales (the “Cabrales
card”) in July 2006 ‘to purchase three tickets in the total amount $2200 to attend a political
fundraiser event called “Starry Night.” The total fraud associated with the Cabrales card is

approximately $36,000.
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E. “Craig Balzer” Linked to “Bagio Gancini”

15. Continuing my review of information provided by Chase Bank, I learned that, on
or about May 25, 2006, Chase Visa credit card account number ending in *8553, issued in the
name of “Shirley Wong” (the “Wong card”) was used to pay for lodging at the Foghorn Harbor
Inn located at 4140 Via Marina, Marina Del Rey, CA 90292, and Casa Malibu, located at 22752
Pacific Coast Highway, Malibu, CA 90265, in the amounts of $202.27 and $658.56, respectively.

16. In September 2006, 1 visited the Foghorn Harbor Inn and learned that “Craig
Balzer” used the Wong card to make reservations. I was provided a copy of the credit card
receipt (the name appears as “C. Balder, Baxter Inc.” on the credit card receipt) and the guest
registration form. The following information was on the guest registration form:

Guest name: Craig Balzer _
Address: 269 S. Beverly Drive Beverly Hills, CA
Make of car: Mercedes Benz CLK 430

Driver’s License Number: D5571322

17. In September 2006, 1 queried law enforcement databases and obtained a copy of
Craig Balzer’s California driver’s license number D5571322, which included a photograph. 1
compared the previously retrieved DMV photograph of “Bagio Gancini” to the DMV photograph
of “Craig Balzer.” The photographs of “Bagio Gancini” and “Craig Balzer” appear to be the
same person.

18. In September 2006, I visited the Casa Malibu and learned that “Craig Balder”

(the name which appears on the hotel receipt) was used the Wong card to pay for a two-night

o~
N : £

stay; I was provided a copy of the credit card receipts (the name appears as “C. Balder,. Baxter
Iﬁc.” on the credit card.receipt) and the guest registration form. The guest regisi}atiSﬁ cbﬁtainéd
the following information: |
Guest name: Craig Balzer
- Address: 269 S. Beverly Drive Beverly Hills, CA 90212

Car license: Mercedes Benz; state: CA
Make of Car: No Plates
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F. Aliases “Bagio Gancini” and “Craig Balzer” Tied To VANN

19. In October 2006, I queried the USPIS computer database and ran the name
“Bagio Gancini.” I subsequently learned that Gancini is a known alias for VANN.
Furthermore, VANN was the subject of at least one other USPIS criminal investigation
which linked both names (Gancini and VANN) together.

20. In November 2006, I contacted Kim Jones, Parole Agent, State of
California, Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation. I requested a mug shot related to
a previous conviction and period of incarceration of VANN. Parole Agent Jones provided a
photograph of VANN. I compared the previously retrieved DMV photographs of “Bagio
Gancini” and “Craig Balzer,” with the California prison mug shot of VANN. 1 deterrhined
that these individuals appear to be the same person.

21. I have researched various law enforcement databases and have not identified
a real individual with the name “Bagio Gancini” in the state of California. I also have
researched the name “Craig Balzer” and know that he is an actual person. Further, I have
" reviewed the an image of Craig Balzer from the Illinois Department of Motor Vehicle
(DMV). The image of the actual Craig Balzer as seen in this Illinois DMV looks nothing
like the image of VANN. -

22. During the course of this investigation, I queried law enforcement computer
databases and learned that “Bagio Gancini” was the registered owner of a 1996 Mercedes
Benz, California license plate number 3WBX059. I contacted San Bernardino County
District Attorney Senior Investigator Maurice Landrum and learned that the vehicle was
cited for a traffic violation in the County of Los Angeles; and the California driver’s license
number on the traffic citation was B6846566> and the address provided was 269 S. Beverly

Dr., Beverly Hills, CA.
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23. In or about June 2007, I visited 269 S. Beverly Dr., Beverly Hills, CA, the
address listed on the guest registration form at the Foghorn Harbor Inn and the Casa Malibu
as well as on the traffic citation for the 1996 Mercedes Benz registered to “Bagio Gancini.”
(See paragraphs 15-18 and 22). This address is a CMRA (hereinafter the “Beverly Drive
CMRA”). I spoke to the manager, Benny Lakatos, and learned the following:

a. Lakatos told me that VANN no longer maintained a mailbox at that
location. However, Lakatos informed me that VANN’s name had recently been added to mailbox
#1202, registered to “Grady Eugene Anderson.” Specifically, “Grady Anderson” telephoned in
or about January 2007 to request that the name “Visanio Vann” be added to his mailbox.

b. Lakatos provided me with the application to open mailbox # 1202,
which listed the name of “Grady Eugene Anderson” and included a photocopy of a
California Driver’s License and a Verizon billing statement.

c. VANN was added to mailbox # 1202 in January 2007,

24, On or about July 16, 2007, I queried the National Crime Information Center
(NCIC) and learned that “Grady Anderson™ has an extensive criminal history dating back to 1987
for fraud and theft - related charges and that the name “Grady Anderson” is listed as a resident of
205 N. Conejo School Rd., #202 Thousand Oaks, CA 91362.

G. VANN Tied to the SUBJECT PREMISES '+:

25. In or about July 2007, I received an updated spreadsheet and other
additional documents from Chase Investigator Mercer. The spreadsheet detailed information
regarding Visa credit card account number ending in *3644, issued in the name of “Emmett

Vann” (the “Emmett Vann” card). (Based on a review of VANN’s birth certificate, I

know that Emmett Vann is VANN’s father.)
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26. Additionally, I reviewed a customer dispute letter received by Chase in
January 2007 on this card in which the alleged cardholder “Emmett Vann” disputed several
charges on the card related to the purchase of a puppy. Specifically, “Emmett Vann” wanted
charges totaling approximately $1,400.00 reversed because the puppy had allegedly died.
Submitted with the letter was a veterinarian bill detailing the treatment of the puppy. 1
reviewed the bill from the Pet Emergency Clinic, Inc., located at 2987 N. Moorpark Rd.,
Thousand Oaks, CA. Although the cardholder “Emmett Vann” charged the puppy to the
aforementioned Visa credit card account number, the documentation provided to Chase for
the emergency veterinary services was in the name of “Craig Balzer.” The documentation
listed Craig Balzer’s address as 205 N. Conejo School Rd., Thousand Oaks, CA 91362, the
same address listed for Grady Anderson (see paragraph 24).

27. I subsequently researched 205 N. Conejo School Rd., Thousand Oaks, CA 91362
in a law enforcement computer database and learned that there were numerous listings for
different people at this address with different apartment numbers. One of the names listed was
G'rady Anderson residing at apartment number 202.

28. On or about July 16, 2007, I learned from U.S. Postal Service resources that mail
addressed to 205 N. Conejo School Rd., #202, Thousand Oaks, CA 91362 had been forwarded on
or about January 4, 2007, to the SUBJECT PREMISES. The name used on the forwarding order
was “Grady Anderson.”

29. On July 18, 2007, Inspector Sean Klenin and I conducted a trash inspection at the
SUBJECT PREMISES. The trash can was located in the alleyway of the SUBJECT PREMISES,
south of the garage. Above the garage were the numbers “2359” which corresponded to the..
address of the SUBJECT PREMISES. The following items were located in the trash:

a. Numerous sales slips/credit card receipts, in various names, including but

not limited to “Craig Balzer,” “Bagio Gancini,” “Emmett Vann” and VANN;
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b. Paperwork depicting several known addresses associated with
VANN, including but not limited to the following;:
i. The SUBJECT PREMISES;
1. the Santa Monica CMRA;
iti. - the Beverly Drive CMRA”; and
iv. 369 Doheny Dr., PH #295, Beverly Hills, CA 90211, a
CMRA (hereinafter the “Doheny CMRA”);
c. A County of Los Angeles Registrar Recorder/County Clerk

authorized copy request for a birth certificate in the name of VANN;

d. A DMV duplicate application for a replacement identification card,
in the name of VANN;
e. An American Express letter containing a physical American

Express credit card, account number ending in the number 1019, in the name of “C. Balzer;”
f. A bank statement from Chevron depicting account number ending
in 734-0, in the name of “Bagio Gancini;”
g. Several credit card receipts in the names of VANN, “Craig Balzer,”
and other names from The Abbey Food and Bar located in West Hollywood, CA;
h. An envelope stamped “Return to Sender” and addressed to Julius
Hudson (a former Los Angeles County Sheriff Jail Inmate), with a return name of “B.
Gancini” and a return address of 369 S. Doheny Dr., PH #295, Beverly Hills, CA 90211; and
i. Within the envelope was a greeting card with handwriting. The writer
concluded the greeting card by including several contacttelephone numbers for “Gancini”
indicating “My old number” of (310) 919-9044 and a new telephone number of (213) 321-

2411.
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30. On or about July 23, 2007, American Express Investigator Jason Reynolds
confirmed that the American Express credit card with the number ending in *1019 in the name of
“C. Balzer,” found in the trash of the SUBJECT PREMISES, was a supplemental card directly
linked to a primary account ending in the number *2017, issued in the name of “E.E. Vann.”
Investigator Reynolds further stated that American Express credit card account number ending in
*2017, experienced a fraudulent balance transfer on or about March 26, 2007, in the amount of
$425.00, from Chase Visa credit card number ending in *9610, in the name of “Mauricio
Moreno” (the “Moreno Card”).

31 On or about July 26, 2007, I submitted some of the paperwork seized during the
trash inspection for fingerprint analysis. That analysis found the known prints of VANN on the
request for a birth certificate found in the trash.

32. On or about October 16, 2007, I received subscriber information from Sprint
Nextel for one of the telephone numbers listed in the greeting card found in the trash and learned
that the subscriber for (310) 919-9044 was an individual named Samuel Sanchez.

33. On or about November 21, 2007, I received subscriber information from AT&T
for another telephone number listed in the greeting card found in the trash and learned that the
subscriber for (213) 321-2411 wés an individual named Barbas Dardon and included (310) 919-
9044 as a work contact telephone number.

34. I conducted further follow-up inquiry with fraud investigators on these two
telephone numbers found in the greeting card located in the trash of the SUBJECT PREMISES,
numbers (310) 919-9044 and (213) 321-2411. On a spreadsheet Chase Investigator Mercer
linked these numbers to numerous fraudulently obtained Chase accounts via Chase’s ANI system.
The following information summarizes fraudulently identified credit card account numbers linked

to telephone numbers (310) 919-9044 and/or (213) 321-2411:
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ANIs (310) 919-9044 & (213) 321-2411:

Chase Visa Credit Card ending in ¥9610
Card holder name — Mauricio Moreno
Loss amount: $17,357.47

Chase Visa Credit Card ending in *3213
Card holder name — MRV Communication and Carlos H. Garcia
Loss amount: $24,958.12

Chase Visa Credit Card ending in *6164
Card holder name - Homero Martinez
Loss amount: $10,983.07

Chase Visa Credit Card ending in *1715
Card holder name — Eneida Ruiz

Loss amount: $222.33

ANI (310) 919-9044:

Chase MasterCard Credit Card ending in *6975
Card holder name — Aqua Flo Inc. and Ann J. Lee
Loss amount: $32,064.85

Chase Visa Card Credit Card ending in *1505
Card holder name — Aqua Flo Inc. and Marie D. Gambon
Loss amount: $10,001.73

Chase Visa Card Credit Card ending in *5518
Card holder name — Aqua Flo Inc. and Carmen G. Cisneros
Loss amount: $13,661.38

Chase Visa Card Credit Card ending in *9416
Card holder name — Aqua Flo Inc. and Maria Martinez
Loss amount:. $10,417.80 .

Chase Visa Credit Card ending in *0420
Card holder name — NBC Universal Corporate and Maria Felix
Loss amount: $20,971.08 b

Chase Visa Credit Card ending in *1157
Card holder name — Oscar Chacon
Loss amount: $15,012.07

Chase Visa Credit Card ending in *0896

Card holder name — Samuel Gonzalez
Loss amount: $4,945.99
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